IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

HAINES CITY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, d/b/a PARKVIEW VILLAGE,

Petitioner,

v.

LEILA HEGGS,

Respondent.

Case No. 84,243

District Court Case No. 94-00524 Circuit Appellate Case No. U-93 L.T. Case No. 93-CC-11-0282

Petitioner's Initial Brief On The Merits

Jerri A. Blair Florida Bar Number 0525332

Blair & Cooney, P.A. Post Office Box 130 Tavares, Florida 32778 Phone: (904) 343-3755

Counsel for Petitioner,
Haines City Community Development, d/b/a Parkview Village

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Statement of the Case

This action arises from the entry of a final judgment in favor of petitioner, Haines City Community Development, d/b/a Parkview Village (hereinafter "Parkview"), in an eviction action filed in the County Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit in and for Polk County, Florida, which was reversed by the Circuit Appellate Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit. A at 156.

Respondent, Leila Heggs (hereinafter "Heggs"), admitted in the answer that she had failed to pay rent November, 1992, and on other occasions. A at 185-190. Initially, Heggs raised affirmative defenses including "lack of good cause", "lack of proper notice" and "equitable defense". A at 198-201. Parkview filed a motion for summary judgment, or, in the alternative, judgment on the pleadings. A at 178-185.

At the hearing on the motion for judgment on the pleadings and/or summary judgment, Heggs orally requested leave to amend the answer to add additional defenses. A at 174.

The trial court entered a order granting partial judgment on the pleadings. A at 174-175. In the order granting partial judgment on the pleadings, the trial court found that:

- 1. Parkview Village is a federally funded low-income housing project for farm laborers funded through Farmers Home Administration;
- Non payment of rent is not curable conduct for purposes of federal or state law or under the terms of the lease;

- A cause of action for non-payment of rent does not arise until nonpayment is repeated;
- 4. On the face of the pleadings, the defendant has admitted repeated non-payment of rent and receipt of a three-day notice.
- 5. Based upon the foregoing, plaintiff is entitled to a partial judgment on the pleadings based on the complaint, answer and first two affirmative defenses;
- 6. The first two affirmative defenses do not state an appropriate avoidance of judgment;
- 7. The court is concerned that evidence should be considered on the third affirmative defense which is an equitable defense.

<u>Id</u>. The trial court entered judgment in favor of Parkview on the affirmative defenses lack of good cause and lack of notice. <u>Id</u>. The trial court granted Heggs' ore tenus motion to amend and allowed additional defenses to be added to the answer. A at 174-175.

Subsequently, Heggs filed an amended answer raising as affirmative defenses "lack of good cause", "lack of proper notice", "retaliation", "equitable defense", "the Vocational Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. §794", "the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. §3601, et. seq." and "Estoppel" which was based upon, among other things, an alleged history of Parkview accepting late rent from tenant after service of a three day notice. A at 191-197.

Parkview filed a motion for summary judgment and/or judgment on the pleadings on the amended answer and affirmative

defenses. The motion was heard on the day of the trial. A at 1-15. The trial court took the motion under advisement. A at 15.

The trial court proceeded to trial solely on the equitable defenses. <u>Id</u>.

At trial, Heggs offered the testimony of two other Parkview tenants in an attempt to demonstrate Parkview's alleged practice of accepting late rent. Both of these neutral witnesses offered by Heggs supported Parkview's contentions concerning its practices with regard to accepting late rent and pursuing evictions if there is no tenant response to a three day notice. A at 113-121. Erma Jean Campbell (hereinafter, "Campbell"), another tenant at Parkview, testified that she has paid late rent in the past and has received three day notices. A at 113-114. She testified that if she is late with her rent, she gets a three day notice. Campbell further testified that: anytime her rent is late, she has always gone in and talked to Parkview management (A at 116); she has always worked out a plan for repayment with Parkview (id.); she has paid her rent "down to zero" at times (id.); and she understands that it is Parkview's practice to evict her if she does not go in and discuss her rent with management when she receives a Grace Johnson (hereinafter "Johnson"), three-day notice. Id. another tenant at Parkview, also testified that: she has paid late rent, but that she always "pays on her rent" (A at 118); that she always receives a three-day notice when her rent is late and that

Campbell was called as a witness by Heggs.

² Johnson was also called by Heggs.

she always goes down to the office to discuss her past due rent (A at 119); that she has always worked out a plan to pay her rent when she has been late (A at 120); and that she realizes that if she does not work out a plan to pay her rent off, she will be evicted. Id. Yolanda Lopez (hereinafter "Lopez"), a project manager at Parkview, testified that: she met with Heggs in January and discussed a written payout agreement (A at 122); the agreement is a form (id.); that she showed Heggs the agreement (id.); that Heggs did not sign it (A at 122-123); that Heggs told her she would come back and sign it (A at 123); that she never did (id.); and that subsequently a three day notice was served upon Heggs and she failed to respond to it.

The trial judge ruled in favor of Parkview and final judgment was entered. A at 159.

Heggs appealed to the Circuit Appellate Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit. A at 160. The circuit appellate court reversed, stating:

Appellee is estopped from terminating Appellant's tenancy for late payment of rent without giving prior notice that the practice would no longer be acceptable. It appears to this court that Appellee arbitrarily enforces its own rules and regulations regarding rent payments. In the past, Appellee has allowed past due payments to accrue for several months without issuing a three-day notice. Here, in the instant case, Appellant failed to pay rent for two months, and then filed [sic] to satisfactorily attend to the matter. Appellee then issued the three-day notice to which Appellant did not respond. Appellee then initiated eviction proceedings. appear that at least some of the tenants understood that a three-day notice means "quote or be evicted"; however, there is no

indication that Appellant was aware of this policy. Appellant even testified that there were times in the past when she had been served with a three-day notice, had not tendered the rent within three days, and had not then been evicted or faced with any eviction proceedings.

A at 157.

Petitioner filed a petition for certiorari review in the Second District, arguing, among other things, that the circuit appellate court had departed from the essential requirements of law by improperly reweighing the facts and misapplying the law. A at 268-307. The Second District denied the petition, but specifically stated that in doing so it was applying the standard set out in <u>Combs v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983). A at 356-360. Second District noted that ... "even though the circuit court found that respondent had a history of repeated nonpayment of rent, it reversed the final judgment of eviction." Haines City Community Development, d/b/a Parkview Village v. Heggs, _____ So.2d _____, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1386, D1387 (Fla. 2d DCA June 22, 1994). The Second District stated that it was denying the petition "because the petitioner has not demonstrated that the circuit court's action has resulted in a miscarriage of justice as required by Combs v. 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1387. The Second District found that there was no prejudice to petitioner because petitioner could reevict based upon nonpayment of rent in the future. Id. The Second District also stated that if it were applying the standard set out in Education Development Center, Inc. v. City of West Palm Beach Zoning Board of Appeals, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989), the decision might be different:

This standard is quite different from the one announced in <u>Combs</u> and could compel a different result in this case were we to find an incorrect application of the law by the circuit court.

19 Fla. L. Weekly at D1387. The Second District certified the following question as one of great public importance:

AFTER EDUCATION DEVELOPMENT CENTER, INC. V. CITY OF WEST PALM BEACH, 541 SO.2D 106 (FLA. 1989), DOES THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IN COMBS V. STATE, 436 SO.2D 93 (FLA. 1983), STILL GOVERN A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WHEN IT REVIEWS, PURSUANT TO FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.030(b)(2)(B), AN ORDER OF A CIRCUIT COURT ACTING IN ITS REVIEW CAPACITY OVER A COUNTY COURT?

Both petitioner and respondent filed motions for attorney's fees in the district court proceeding. The district court granted Heggs' motion and denied Parkview's motion. A at 367-368. Petitioner filed a motion for rehearing arguing that in the instant case, there was prejudice sufficient to meet the standard set out in <u>Combs</u>. A at 361. The Second District denied the motion for rehearing. A at 366. Petitioner sought discretionary review in this court. A at 369.

Statement of the Facts

I. PARKVIEW'S BACKGROUND.

The purpose of this nonprofit corporation is to provide low-income housing to farm workers. A at 87. Parkview Village is a 196 unit apartment complex, which was built and is maintained through grants and loans provided through a federal agency, the Farmer's Home Administration. Hereinafter, "FmHA". Id.

Parkview's lease contains a paragraph which states:

Failure of the owner to insist upon strict performance of the terms, covenants, agreements and conditions herein contained or any of them shall not constitute or be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of the owners right thereafter to enforce any such term, covenant, agreement or condition, but the same shall continue in full force and effect.

A at 201.

Because Parkview Village is funded through FmHA, federal rules and regulations apply to the apartment complex. The federal regulations require that a lease contain certain provisions including, but not limited to the following:

Resident understands that this apartment project is operated and maintained for the purpose of providing housing for domestic farm laborers and their families. Resident does hereby certify that a substantial portion of their family income is and will be derived from farm labor. Resident further understands that domestic farm labor means persons who receive a substantial portion of their income as laborers on farms in the United States, Puerto Rico or Virgin Islands and either (1) are citizens of the United States or reside in the United States after being legally admitted for permanent residence therein, and may include the immediate families of such persons.

<u>Id</u>. The federal regulations also require the lease contain a provision that:

Residents agree that if the household income ceases to be substantially from farm labor for reasons other than disablement or retirement, that they will promptly vacate their dwelling unit after proper notification by the owner.

Id.

The apartments are designed for use by low-income farm

workers. A at 90. Generally, only eligible tenants may reside at Parkview Village under the federal rules and regulations. <u>Id</u>. Eligibility requires that at least 25% of the tenant's total household income be derived from agriculture. <u>Id</u>. When there are vacancies and no eligible applicants on a waiting list, tenants who meet certain other obligations may be admitted if they meet income requirements. <u>Id</u>. However, as ineligible tenants, their tenancies are subject to the requirement that they agree to vacate if eligible tenants are on the waiting list at the end of the period of their tenancy.

Flora Jo Haber (hereinafter "Haber"), of Rand Management (hereinafter "Rand"), managed Parkview Village from 1981 through Id. During that time, there was an active tenant association at Parkview Village. <u>Id</u>. In 1986, when Rand was replaced at Parkview with another management company, the tenants were concerned and asked FmHA to allow Rand to continue management of the complex. A 87-88. Parent Management Company at (hereinafter "Parent") managed the project for four years, from 1986 through 1990. <u>Id</u>. In 1990, Rand returned as manager of Parkview Village. Id.

When Rand began management in 1990, there were many problems at Parkview including open sewer lines, broken windows, nonoperative locks, problems with water faucets and thirty six vacancies. A at 88. Haber and Rand began attempting to solve these problems. A at 89.

Because of the number of vacancies at Parkview, Rand

initially accepted tenants who would normally be ineligible to occupy the vacant apartments. <u>Id</u>. It took thirteen to fourteen months, until the fall of 1991, to fill the vacancies. <u>Id</u>. By that time, the waiting list at Parkview was growing, and Rand decided that it would no longer accept ineligible tenants. <u>Id</u>.

Prior to the fall of 1991, it had been Parkview's practice to attach an addendum to the lease of any tenant who was an ineligible tenant which made it clear that the tenant was ineligible, and that the tenant could remain in the project only so long as there were no eligible tenants on a waiting list. A at 84-85. Prior to 1991, there were so many vacancies at Parkview that ineligible tenants were allowed to remain with the agreement that they would vacate at the end of any tenancy term when eligible tenants were on a waiting list. Id. In 1991, when the number of vacancies was down, Parkview began notifying all ineligible tenants that they would have to leave at the end of their lease term. Id. If the ineligible tenant refused to leave at the end of their lease term, Parkview would initiate eviction. Id. FmHA endorsed Parkview's practice of filing the evictions against the ineligible tenants. A at 86.

II. HISTORY OF HEGGS' TENANCY RELATED TO HER RETALIATION DEFENSE.

Heggs originally became a tenant on the basis of her husband's farm worker capacity. <u>Id</u>. In approximately 1984 or 1985, Buster Heggs, Heggs' husband, moved from the apartment. <u>Id</u>. After Buster Heggs moved, Heggs was always deemed an ineligible tenant and provided with the addendum that made it clear that she

was ineligible and would have to move if there was an eligible tenant on the waiting list. A at 83-85. During all of this time, Heggs never provided Parkview with any information which indicated that she was or had been a farm worker. Id. There was no documentation in her files to indicate that Heggs had ever been a farm worker. A at 83. Heggs had never reported any agricultural income to the federal government for social security purposes or Parkview for herself or her children. A at 43-45. Any agricultural income they received apparently had been reported on Heggs' husband's social security. Id.

In the fall of 1991, Heggs received the notice that she would have to vacate because there were eligible tenants on the waiting list. A at 85. She refused to move. <u>Id</u>. However, she still did not provide Parkview with any information that she or her children had ever worked as an agricultural worker with her Parkview filed an eviction based upon nonhusband. Id. eligibility. A at 92. Heggs testified at trial that she and her children worked under her husband's social security number as farm workers. Id. During the litigation, Heggs claimed that she was a disabled farm worker and had become disabled in approximately 1985. Id. This was the first time Parkview had any information that Heggs was claiming status as an eligible tenant based upon her own farm work. Id. Parkview did not prevail on the eviction filed on the basis of ineligibility. Id. Heggs remained as a tenant at Parkview.

Rand and Parkview have always encouraged a tenants

association to be active at Parkview Village. A at 94-96. Haber instructed her staff to help and encourage the tenants association in its activities by copying notices for tenants association meetings, posting copies of the notices and providing a meeting room for the tenants association. A at 94-95. Parkview and Haber also financially donated to the tenants association to help it with its activities. A at 47; 95. Haber instructed her managers to call local businesses and get solicitations from these businesses for tenants association projects. A at 96. Parkview also bought sweatshirts and other items printed with "Parkview Village" for the tenants association. Id. Haber's policy was that the interaction with the tenants association helped to provide understanding for why rules and regulations are in place at Parkview. Id. This also provided a forum for tenants to bring problems to her attention. Id.

After the ineligible tenant notices were sent out in 1991, some of the tenants expressed concern. A at 97. At that time, Parkview, through Haber, invited Nora Leto of Florida Rural Legal Services, who is counsel for Heggs in this action, to attend a meeting at Parkview to help educate the tenants about Parkview rules and regulations. Id. Nora Leto was unable to attend the meeting, but Bob Connely, an associate at Rural Legal Services, did attend the meeting. A at 97-98. Parkview also arranged for the

Heggs admitted at trial that Plaintiff "bought T-shirts, sweatshirts." A at 47.

Heggs was President of the tenants association in 1989-90, prior to this time. A at 46.

services of an hispanic woman to translate the information that was being provided for hispanics who resided at Parkview. A at 98. There was a standing room only crowd at the meeting. Id. Parkview encouraged Connely to address the crowd and tell the residents about the fact that Legal Services was available to help them if they had questions about the actions of management at Parkview. A at 98. Connely was encouraged to explain his interpretation of the Parkview rules and regulations to the tenants. Id.

The tenants association has not been active in some time.

A at 99.

III. HISTORY OF HEGGS' TENANCY RELATED TO HER CLAIM OF HANDICAP DISCRIMINATION.

Apparently during 1992, Heggs had some health problems including a urinary tract infection and problems with her back. A at 46. Heggs has never been admitted to a mental hospital, or reported any mental problems other than the "depression" and headaches listed on her disability form. A at 46-47. Parkview's only knowledge of Heggs' alleged illness was that she had a social security disability related to Heggs backaches, headaches and occasional depression. A at 73-74.

Information received during that prior litigation from the Social Security Disability office indicated that Heggs was capable of managing her own funds and capable of working 25 hours a week. A at 93. At the time this action was filed, there was nothing in Heggs' file which indicated anything to the contrary. Id.

If tenants are housebound at Parkview, the policy is to

collect rent from the home. A at 75. Parkview might also instruct management to stop by and see the handicapped tenants on a weekly or daily basis or ask a neighbor to look in on them. A at 76. Federal regulations forbid Parkview from inquiring as to whether a person has a physical or mental handicap. A at 87. never asked for any special concession to help her to be able to pay rent because of any mental disability. A at 107-108. past, subsequent to Heggs date of disability in 1985, Heggs has continued to pay rent and has not asked that it be collected at her A at 107. If Heggs had asked a manager to come to her home. apartment to pick up rent, Parkview would have done so. A at 108. Heggs has a phone in her apartment and there is nothing in the record to indicate Heggs ever called the Parkview office or asked for someone to come and pick up her rent. A at 108-109. also has adult teenage children living with her and there is nothing in the record to indicate that any of her adult teenage children approached the office in an attempt to deliver rent. Id.

IV. PARKVIEW'S POLICY CONCERNING LATE RENT CARRYOVERS AND THREE DAY NOTICES.

A. Late rent carryovers.

In 1992, FmHA sent a directive to Parkview Village that carryover charges for late rent should not exceed ten percent (10%) of the annual rents for Parkview Village. A at 68. Because many tenants had an excess carryover of past due rent, Parkview was far exceeding this amount. <u>Id</u>. In the fall of 1992, Parkview started a concerted effort to make sure that tenants eliminated past due rent balances. <u>Id</u>. In the fall of 1992, Rand sent out a notice to

tenants that they would have to have a "zero balance on their rent" prior to the end of the year. A at 82; 124-126. The notice was posted and hand delivered to the tenants. Id.

B. Three day notices.

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