# FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 27 1994

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chilef Deputy Clerk

HAINES CITY COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT, d/b/a PARKVIEW VILLAGE, Petitioner,

V.

Case No.: 84,243

LEILA HEGGS,

Respondent.

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: 94-00524 CIRCUIT COURT APPELLATE CASE NO.: U-93 COUNTY COURT NO.: 93-CC11-0282

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

# ON PETITION FOR CERTIORARI FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

NORA LETO Florida Bar No: 35711 Florida Rural Legal Services, Inc. P.O. Box 24688 963 East Memorial Blvd. Lakeland, Florida 33802-4688 (813) 688-7376 Attorney for Respondent

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case began as an eviction action by the Petitioner, Parkview Village, a federally subsidized farmworker housing project, against the Respondent, a disabled former farmworker. The reason for the eviction was late payment of rent.

Parkview Village, the Petitioner in this Court, is seeking a third appeal in the guise of a petition for writ of certiorari. Parkview Village prevailed on the initial trial in this case before the county court, was reversed on appeal to the circuit court, sought a writ of certiorari in the Second District Court of Appeal (and was denied), and now seeks certiorari review here. There is simply no jurisdiction available at all in this Court for the review sought by Parkview.

The Second District Court of Appeal certified a question to this Court concerning the standards to be employed when the District Courts of appeal review circuit courts acting in their appellate capacity. The Second District denied certiorari review to Parkview Village on the merits of the case. Nonetheless, Parkview argues before this Court that the Second District should have granted certiorari, an issue which is not properly the basis of jurisdiction in this Court according to the Florida Constitution, the rules of this Court, or any other authority.

Even if there were appeal review or certiorari available in this court in the instant case, the Circuit Court appellate decision should be upheld. The Circuit Court applied the correct law, and no procedural violations have been alleged.

The only issue properly before this Court in this matter is the certified question from the Second District Court of Appeal. The issue is the perceived inconsistency between two cases decided by this Court <u>Combs v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983) and <u>Education Development Center, Inc. v. Zoning Board of Appeals</u>, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989). However, a close look at these cases and their progeny reveals that the cases are not inconsistent.

Clearly, certiorari review of appellate decisions is a narrower review than the initial appellate review. Otherwise, certiorari would be nothing more than a second appeal. The standard for such review requires more than just a disagreement with the decision. There must be an egregious error. Regardless of whether such error is labeled as error resulting in a "miscarriage of

justice" (the term used in <u>Combs</u>) or a failure to observe the "essential requirements of the law", (the term used in <u>Educational Development</u>) the standard requires more than just a disagreement with the legal correctness of the decision. There is no difference between the standards in these two cases. However, because of the variety of terms used by the courts to describe the standard, it may appear that different standards are being used. The standard to be applied requires that before certiorari can be granted, there must be legal error resulting in a miscarriage of justice. Because there was no miscarriage of justice wrought by the appellate decision, the Second District Court decision to deny certiorari was correct.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS IN THE NEGATIVE.

The question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal indicates that the cases of <u>Combs v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1983) and <u>Education Development Center</u>, <u>Inc. v. Zoning Board of Appeals</u>, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989) contain inconsistent standards for certiorari review:

AFTER EDUCATIONAL DEVELOPMENT CENTER, INC. V. CITY OF WEST PALM BEACH, 541 SO. 2D 106 (FLA. 1989), DOES THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IN COMBS V. STATE, 436 SO. 2D 93 (FLA. 1983), STILL GOVERN A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WHEN IT REVIEWS, PURSUANT TO FLORIDA RULE APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.030(b)(2)(B), AN ORDER OF A CIRCUIT COURT ACTING IN ITS REVIEW CAPACITY OVER A COUNTY COURT?

However, a close look at these cases and their progeny indicates that there is no inconsistency. Both cases require that

on certiorari, simple legal error is insufficient to warrant review; there must be error that results in a miscarriage of justice.

The <u>Combs</u> case involved a county court conviction of driving while intoxicated. On appeal, the circuit court affirmed. 436 So.2d at 94. Combs then filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The Fifth District, in denying the petition, held that:

Certiorari is not the vehicle for us to review alleged errors of law made by a circuit judge sitting in review of county court judgments. There is no vehicle for that review. The decision of the circuit court is final and reviewable. . . .

\* \* \*

The only thing we can take by certiorari in this type of case is an alleged "departure from the essential requirements of law" which essentially amounts to violations which effectively deny appellate review such as the circuit judge rendering a decision without allowing briefs to be filed and considered. .

Id. at 94.

This Court, on review, held that the Fifth Circuit had taken too narrow a view of what constitutes a "departure from the essential requirements of law." Id. at 95.

The Court held that this phrase means flaws in procedural matters are reviewable as well as legal error, provided that the legal error results in a miscarriage of justice. <u>Id.</u> at 94-95. The Court correctly synthesized the problem of such a standard in <u>Combs</u>:

These conflicting decisions result from this Court's efforts to clothe the decisions of all appellate courts with finality while at the same time providing a means for review in those few extreme cases where the appellate court's decision is so erroneous that justice requires that it be corrected.

Id. at 98. The court went on to say that it would be impossible to list all the circumstances in which a miscarriage of justice occurs. In the instant case, the Second District Court, applying Combs, found that there has been no miscarriage of justice that would warrant certiorari review. However, the Second District has found a later decision of the Supreme Court, Education Development Center, Inc. v. Zoning Board of Appeals, 541 So.2d 106 (Fla. 1989), to contain a different standard. Analysis of the two cases reveals that there is no inconsistency.

Education Development Center involved a request by a corporation who sought a zoning change in order to turn a residential property into a preschool and kindergarten. The zoning board denied the request, and the center appealed to the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court reversed, holding that there was substantial competent evidence to support the application. 541 So.2d at 107. The Center then obtained certiorari review in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The District found that there had been an incorrect standard of review applied by the circuit court and remanded the case. The Fourth Circuit held that the appellate court had to determine "whether there is substantial competent evidence to support the agency's conclusion" and not whether there was substantial, competent evidence to "support a position contrary

to that reached by the agency." Id. at 108.

The circuit court again reversed on remand, finding that there was no substantial competent evidence to support the Board's decision. The board sought review once again in the Fourth District. The Fourth District reversed, holding that there had been substantial, competent evidence to support the denial of the application, and that the circuit court had improperly reweighed the evidence. Id. at 108.

This Court held that the District Court had exceeded its scope of review. This Court held that the circuit court, in reviewing the decision of an administrative agency, cannot reweigh the evidence nor substitute its judgment for that of the agency. Id. This Court next described the district court's standard of review:

In turn, the standard of review to guide the district court when it reviews the circuit court's order . . . is necessarily narrower. The standard for the district court has only two discrete components . . . whether the circuit court afforded procedural due process and applied the correct law.

Id., quoting from <u>City of Deerfield Beach v. Vaillant</u>, 419 So.2d 624 at 626 1982). The court held that there is no jurisdiction in the Fourth District simply because the district court disagreed with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence. The Court did not announce a broader appeal standard in <u>Education Development</u>, it merely reiterated the two-pronged standard of <u>Combs.</u><sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>There is a three-step analysis for an appellate review of an administrative agency decision: 1) whether there is substantial, competent evidence to support the decision; 2) whether there was an application of the correct law, and 3) whether there were procedural

In subsequent cases, the various courts have uniformly applied the Combs standard, even when the Combs case is not cited. In Conahan v. Dept of Highway Safety, 619 So.2d 988 at 989 (5th DCA 1993), both the Combs and Education Development case are cited for the proposition that certiorari cannot be used as a "vehicle to obtain a second appeal." If the "application of the correct law" standard were to be applied as the Second District has interpreted Education Development, then certiorari would always be a second appeal.

In the case of <u>Horatio Enterprises</u>, <u>Inc. v. Rabin</u>, 614 So.2d 555 (3rd DCA 1993) the Third District, on certiorari, quashed an appellate court decision which had resulted in forfeiture of a tenancy. Citing <u>Combs</u>, the Third District held that the "legal error in reversing the county court's judgment caused a 'miscarriage of justice' because it resulted in a forfeiture of the sublease." As in the instant case, the tenant (a commercial tenant) had paid all the money to which the landlords were entitled. <u>Id.</u> at 556.

In <u>Branch v. Charlotte County</u>, 627 So.2d 578 (2nd DCA 1993), the Second District denied certiorari in an administrative manner, stating "(u)nder <u>Education Development Center</u>, we are not permitted to "disagree with the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence." Cites omitted, 627 So.2d at 579. In that case, a local utility

deficiencies. The certiorari review in Education Development involved the first prong, which is not an issue in the instant case, since it only applies to administrative agency decisions.

company sought an interim rent increase, was denied by the County, and had appealed to the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court had affirmed the denial. The District Court, in affirming the denial, held:

When a district court reviews a circuit's denial of a petition for writ of certiorari challenging a decision of an administrative body, the standard of review is very limited. The district court may only determine whether the petitioner was afforded due process and whether the circuit court applied the correct law.

Id. at 578, citing Education Development. The district court found that the standard that the circuit court had used, i.e., whether there was substantial competent evidence to support the decision, was the correct standard, and that therefore the court's decision must be sustained. The district court made it quite clear that regardless of the outcome, if the correct standard was used, the district court could not intervene. This is a much narrower standard of certiorari review than whether the decision is legally correct, because the application of any standard can result in varying interpretations. According to the Florida Constitution, that kind of interpretation may only be had at the trial level, and on appeal.

To the extent there may be differing consideration of administrative matters, it is due to the fact that our legal system has always deferred to agency expertise, hence, the "substantial competent evidence" standard is applied to factual matters. However, there is no additional "de novo" review in administrative matters. Unless there is a miscarriage of justice, one appeal is

enough.

# II. THE SUPREME COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS CASE DE NOVO.

Petitioner seeks a writ of certiorari to review the correctness of a reversal entered by a Circuit Court acting in its appellate capacity. There is no jurisdiction in this Court for review of this matter.

In 1980, the Florida Constitution was amended to change the jurisdiction of the Courts. The 1980 changes narrowed the jurisdiction of the courts of the state in response to heavy caseloads:

Subdivision (a) of this rule has been revised to reflect extensively constitutional modifications in the supreme court's jurisdiction as approved by the electorate on March 11, 1980. See art. V sec. 3(b), Fla. Const. (1980). The impetus for these modifications was a burgeoning caseload and the attendant need to make more efficient appellate resources. limited of purpose, revised Consistent with this subdivision (a) limits the supreme court's and original discretionary, jurisdiction to cases that substantially affect the law of the state. The district courts of appeal will constitute the courts of last resort for the vast majority of litigants under amended article V.

See Committee notes to Rule 9.030, Fla. R. App. P.

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction only under very narrow circumstances.<sup>2</sup> None of the jurisdictional grounds exists here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Rule 9.030 JURISDICTION OF COURTS

<sup>(</sup>a) Jurisdiction of Supreme Court.

## (1) Appeal Jurisdiction,

- (A) The supreme court shall review, by appeal
- (i) final orders of courts imposing sentences of death;
- (ii)decisions of district courts of appeal declaring invalid a state statute or a provision of the state constitution.
- (B) If provided by general law, the supreme court shall review
- (i) by appeal final orders entered in proceedings for the validation of bonds or certificates of indebtedness;
- (ii)action of statewide agencies relating to rates or service of utilities providing electric, gas, or telephone service.
- (2) **Discretionary Jurisdiction**. The discretionary jurisdiction of the supreme court may be sought to review
- (A) decisions of district courts of appeal that
- (i) expressly declare valid a state statute;(ii) expressly construe a provision of the state or federal constitution;
- (iii) expressly affect a class of constitutional or state officers;
- (iv) expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law;
- (v) pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance;
- (vi)are certified to be in direct conflict
  with decisions of other district courts of
  appeal;
- (B) orders and judgments of trial courts certified by the district court of appeal in which the appeal is pending to require immediate resolution by the supreme court, and (i) to be of great public importance, or
- (ii) to have a great effect on the proper administration of justice;
- (C) questions of law certified by the Supreme Court of the United States or a United States

There is certainly no appeal jurisdiction, or original jurisdiction in the instant case. See Rule 9.030(a)(1), (3), of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Appeal jurisdiction is limited to death sentence cases, cases finding statutes or constitutional provisions invalid, bond invalidation matters, and decisions of statewide agencies involving electric, gas or telephone service. Original jurisdiction is limited to writs of habeas corpus, writs of prohibition, and all writs "necessary to the complete exercise of its (the Court's) jurisdiction." This Court, in its original jurisdiction, may issue writs to the extent it is necessary for cases in which the Court has jurisdiction according to the Florida Constitution.

Discretionary jurisdiction in the supreme court can be obtained when the district courts "pass upon a question certified to be of great public importance" and when an order or judgment of the trial courts are certified by the district courts to be of great public importance. See Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) and

court of appeals that are determinative of the cause of action and for which there is no controlling precedent of the Supreme Court of Florida.

<sup>(3)</sup> Original Jurisdiction. The supreme court may issue writs of prohibition to courts and all writs necessary to the complete exercise of its jurisdiction, and may issue writs of mandamus and quo warranto to state officers and state agencies. The supreme court or any justice may issue writs of habeas corpus returnable before the supreme court or any justice, a district court of appeal or any judge thereof, or any circuit judge.

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